
Gloucestershire Schools Forum

Thursday 11 November 2021 at 2.00 pm

REMOTE MEETING





Gloucestershire Schools Forum
Thursday 11 November 2021

2.00 pm

REMOTE MEETING

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Joanne Bolton

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Forum must declare an interest in any agenda item where 
the outcome may give them a direct pecuniary advantage or avoid a 
disadvantage.  A form is available at the back of the meeting room.

Joanne Bolton

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To receive any public questions.
 
Questions can be asked on the day or sent to the Clerk before the
meeting. If you would like to ask a question on the day of the meeting, 
please contact the Clerk Joanne Bolton (email: 
joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk) (Tel: 01452 324197), by 10:00am 
on Tuesday 9 November 2021, so that arrangements can be made as the 
meeting is being held remotely via video conferencing.
 
The Chair will advise the timescale for any questions asked on the day of 
the meeting or received less than 3 working days before the meeting. A 
written answer will be provided if questions are received 3 clear working 
days before the date of the meeting.

Joanne Bolton

4  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 18)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2021 and note 
actions.

Joanne Bolton

5  COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING REVIEW Philip Haslett

6  CONSULTATION ON SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT GRANT FUNDING Philip Haslett

7  HIGH NEEDS (Pages 19 - 32) Philip Haslett

8  F40 UPDATE Philip Haslett

9  NEXT MEETING 

The next meeting of the Schools Forum will take place at 2:00pm on 
Thursday 13 January 2022.

Joanne Bolton



GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

1. In the event of the Forum not being able to complete the meeting, the Forum will
reconvene at 2:00 pm on Friday 12 November 2021.

2. Members of the public will be able to view the Schools Forum meeting via
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. The recorded meeting will be posted on the Gloucestershire County Council website as 
soon as possible following the meeting.

4. If you have any general queries about the meeting, please contact the Clerk: Joanne 
Bolton (email: joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk) (Tel: 01452 324197).

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1

GLOUCESTERSHIRE SCHOOLS FORUM
Minutes of a meeting held on Thursday 16 September 2021.  

The meeting was held remotely.

Present:

David Alexander - Secondary Headteacher (Maintained)
Alison Berry - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Lyn Dance - Special School Head Teacher
Elisa Entwistle - Alternative Provision Schools
Elaine Le Gros - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Peter Hales - Primary School Governors (Academy)
Andrew Harris - Community Representative (Chair of the Schools 

Forum)
Kate Hawkins - Special School Governors (Academy)
Amanda Horniman - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Rachel Howie - Gloucester Diocese
Lisa Jones - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Gwyneth Keen - Early Years Providers
Becky Martin - Special School Governors (Maintained)
Julia Maunder - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Dermot McNiffe - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Will Morgan - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Sarah Murphy - Unions
Peter Nolan - Primary School Governors (Maintained) (Vice-Chair of 

the Schools Forum)
Alexander Norman - Secondary School Governors (Academy)

Substitutes: Becky Pain-Tolin, Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum

Observers: Cllr Philip Robinson - Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and
Skills
Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding
and Early Years.

Officers: Kirsten Harrison, Director of Education
Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development
Neil Egles, Finance Manager, Schools Strategy and Capital
Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner Strategic Finance
Gareth Vine, Universal Commissioning Manager
Joanne Bolton, Democratic Services Officer and Clerk to the
Schools Forum

Apologies: Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services
Matthew Bishop, Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Helen Bond, Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

2 

Penny Chislett, Post-16 Education
Stephen Dean, Primary School Headteachers (Academy)
Rhian Evans, Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Becky Poulter Jewson, Early Years
Clare Steel, Special School Headteachers (Maintained)

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

22. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

23. MINUTES 

23.1 The minutes of the previous meeting held on 17 June 2021, were approved as a 
correct record.

23.2 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, reported that at the 
Forum’s meeting on 17 June 2021, the Forum recommended that top-up funding 
should increase by 2% for both mainstream and special schools.  The Local 
Authority (LA) had now ratified the 2% increase, with adjustments being made to 
external Alternative Provision funding to keep it cost neutral for 2021/22.

23.3 He also reported that the government’s SEND review was still yet to be published 
despite repeated messages that it was imminent.  Once published a Schools Forum 
working group session would take place to assess the implications of the SEND 
review and any impacts on the local funding models.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development/Clerk to the Forum.

24. SCHOOL FUNDING 2022/23 

24.1 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, gave a presentation 
on School Funding for 2022/23.  The Forum considered the implications of 
government indicative announcements on school funding for 2022/23, and the 
proposed funding formula method to use for Gloucestershire’s schools and 
academies.

24.2 The Forum received the 2022/23 indicative Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) block 
summary.  The percentage increases were broadly in-line with those from 2020/21 
to 2021/22 (excluding the increase in 2021/22 that related to teachers pay and 
pensions funding moving into the DSG).

24.3 The Forum considered the proposed Growth Fund allocation of £1.3M for 2022/23.  
In response to a question, Neil Egles Finance Manager Schools Strategy and 
Capital, explained that the Growth Fund was topsliced from the Schools block DSG 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

3 

to provide funding for new classes required as a result of a shortage of basic need 
places.  It would usually fund one additional class for a school in the current 
financial year; from the following year onwards the pupils would form part of the 
number on roll and the census count, meaning they would be funded through the 
normal method of the funding formula.  The Growth Fund also covered funding for 
the start up costs of new schools.  No funding was required for new schools in 
2022/23, which was why £0.2M less was needed than the figure for 2021/22.  

24.4 A Forum member raised a concern that there should be more transparency and 
consultation with schools regarding the allocation of growth funding to meet the 
need for additional places, particularly how an area as a whole caters for the need.  
He suggested that Gloucestershire’s headteachers associations would be useful 
forums in which the discussions could take.  The Head of Education Strategy and 
Development agreed to look at this issue and provide Forum members with 
information on how the process operated and the funding was allocated.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development.

24.5 In response to a question, Neil Egles the Finance Manager Schools Strategy and 
Capital, clarified that the Growth Fund (topsliced from the Schools block) was used 
for mainstream schools only.  Funding for special schools came from the High 
Needs block, and places were commissioned and funded at the point of need.

24.6 The Forum agreed a top-slice for growth of £1.3M for 2022/23, subject to being 
updated for any change in the basic need Age Weighted Pupil Unit rates for 
2022/23 when those were finalised in January 2022. 

24.7 The Head of Education Strategy and Development presented the changes and 
clarifications to the National Funding Formula (NFF) for 2022/23, as detailed in the 
report.  The Forum noted that:

 There would be 3% increases to the factors for basic entitlement, deprivation 
allocations based on free school meals at any time in the last 6 years 
(FSM6) and on income deprivation affecting children index (IDACI); lower 
prior attainment (LPA), English as an additional language (EAL) and the 
lump sum.

 A 2% increase to Minimum Per Pupil Levels and Free School Meals (FSM).  
 FSM6 – update on the October 2021 census to bring it more up to date and 

in line with other NFF factors.
 Mobility – would be based on the actual entry date rather than the census 

(which did not take place due to Covid-19).
 Rates – The DfE were centralising the business rates payment system for 

schools, so that the ESFA would pay billing authorities directly on behalf of 
state funded schools from 2022/23.

 Sparsity - £10,000 increase primary and £5,000 increase secondary to the 
maximum amount a school could receive for the sparsity factor. Primaries 
were now eligible for up to a maximum of £55,000 and secondaries up to 
£80,000.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

4 

 The Minimum Per Pupil Funding would increase by 2% to primary: £4,265 
and secondary: £5,525.

 The Funding Floor/Minimum Funding Guarantee in the NFF remained at 2% 
to ensure that every school was allocated at least 2% more funding per pupil.

24.8 Based on initial calculations (subject to census update) the LA’s assumption was 
that it could fully fund the NFF, and that there would be a small surplus estimated at 
£520,000.

24.9 In response to a question, Neil Egles, Finance Manager, Schools Strategy and 
Capital, clarified how the 1 in 40 rule was calculated.  He explained that the number 
of pupils on roll was divided by 40, that figure was then the maximum number of 
pupils with high needs that a school would pay the sum of £6,000 for.  For each 
high needs pupils over that number, a school would receive the top-up funding and 
the sum of £6,000.  He added that the 1 in 40 rule was a local funding decision - 
some but not all LAs had the provision, or had variations to it, to support schools 
which attracted a high number of children with additional needs.  The LA had 
previously operated a 1 in 75 rule, meaning that schools would have received more 
funding for pupils with High Needs.  However, the decision to reduce to 1-40 was 
taken due to affordability given the significant pressure on the High Needs budget.

24.10 In response to a question, the Head of Education Strategy and Development, 
explained that the LA had no plans to propose a move back to the 1 in 75 rule.  The 
reality was that there was simply not enough High Needs funding from central 
government to do that.  Also, there remained a concern that model supported a 
culture in which some schools were seen by parents as more inclusive and would 
often state a preference for the school  during the EHCP process.  He reported that 
moving into the future and given the pressures on the High Needs budget, there 
may be questions about whether the LA could continue to fund the 1 in 40 rule.  
The recommendation for 2022/23 was that the surplus in the Schools block, be 
transferred to the High Needs block to support the 1 in 40 rule, however, that was 
not sustainable in the longer term.  He recognised that some schools would be 
significantly impacted by any change to the 1 in 40 rule and therefore long-term 
conservations would be needed with school representatives around any proposed 
changes. 

24.11 A member expressed concern that the change from the 1 in 75 to the 1 in 40 rule 
had taken away funding and support for pupils with SEND.  He suggested that there 
needed to be conversations around what the current provision consisted of and 
what the value for money was in terms of meeting the needs of children with SEND.  
Questions needed to be answered on whether the funding was being used 
efficiently and effectively to keep within budget, before any further reductions were 
made which would affect the special needs provision for pupils.  The Head of 
Education Strategy and Development explained that 90% of the High Needs block 
funding was allocated to schools.  He proposed that due to the complexities around 
the High Needs funding system, and the rising levels of need coupled with a High 
Needs budget under significant pressure, it would be helpful for members to get 
together outside of a Forum meeting to go through all of the issues in more detail.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

5 

It was therefore agreed that a High Needs workshop meeting would be arranged for 
Forum members.  Representatives from the ESFA and the DfE would be invited to 
attend the session.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development/Clerk to the Schools 
Forum.

24.12 Members of the Forum were concerned about the funding inequity involving schools 
which attracted a disproportionate number of children with additional needs.  Whilst 
members acknowledged that the 1 in 40 rule aimed to help counter some of those 
funding inequities by compensating schools with a high number of children with 
high needs, the issue was not accounted for in the NFF.  The Forum recognised the 
importance of the work of the F40 Group in continuing the campaign for schools to 
receive a fairer deal - a minimum per pupil funding amount, plus funding for children 
with additional needs, as part of the NFF.

24.13 Having considered the NFF factor rates as outlined in the report, the Forum agreed 
that the basis on which the formula would be allocated for 2022/23, would match 
the NFF method as closely as possible and to utilise any surplus remaining in the 
Schools block to support the 1 in 40 model. 

24.14 The Forum considered the proposals for de-delegations. Sarah Murphy, Trade 
Union representative, presented the report on Local Authority Teaching Union 
Facilities 2021.  She explained that the total amount of £105,000 de-delegated for 
union facilities paid for the salaries of four elected county union representatives.  
She emphasised the importance of the de-delegation provision for union facilities, 
explaining that it allowed all primary local authority maintained schools to meet all 
statutory and procedural entitlements to union representation.  The Trade Union 
representative drew the Forum’s attention to the section of her report which 
summarised how the facilities time was spent in 2020/21 by NEU and NASUWT.  
She explained that without this service, primary schools would individually be 
responsible for meeting all statutory obligations from their own budget, and 
therefore it was felt strongly that the de-delegation of funding was the most cost 
effective way of ensuring that the statutory duties were covered.   She concluded 
her presentation by stating that she strongly hoped that the Forum members eligible 
to vote would approve the ongoing de-delegation of union facilities for primary 
schools.  

24.15 In response to a question, the Trade Union representative explained that the fees 
teachers paid for union membership, paid for the central workings of the union, 
including the legal aspects.  However, the fees did not pay for the local based case 
workers - this was covered through the facilities funding.  If there was no LA’s union 
facilities service funded either through de-delegation or by schools on an individual 
basis, then all casework would be handled at the regional offices.  Consequently, 
schools in the counties would lose the expertise of individual caseworkers who 
knew the background story of schools and had developed relationships with 
teachers.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

6 

24.16 In response to a question, the Head of Education Strategy and Development, 
explained that the de-delegation for union facilities was for primary maintained 
schools only.  Secondary schools usually had the expertise and capacity within their 
own staff members to undertake the casework and statutory functions.  The Trade 
Union representation confirmed that some secondary academies were buying into 
the service.

24.17 In response to a question, the Trade Union representative explained that the Forum 
had previously received information on the de-delegation amounts for union 
facilities, in other comparable authorities – some were paying higher de-delegation 
amounts than Gloucestershire, and others less.  Gloucestershire was around mid-
range.  The Head of Education Strategy emphasised that the de-delegation of 
funds for union facilities for primary maintained schools was the most efficient way 
financially to cover that need.
 

24.18 The Forum’s maintained schools’ representatives present at the meeting (by sector) 
agreed de-delegation at the per pupil rates shown in the report for:

 In-year increases in pupil numbers – primary
 Targeted intervention – primary
 Union facilities – primary
 Local authority statutory duties (primary and secondary).

24.19 The Forum noted that it would make its final recommendations on the funding 
formula at its meeting on 13 January 2022, ahead of the submission of the final 
formula to the DfE.

24.20 The Forum considered the LA’s draft response to the DfE’s consultation on reforms 
to the NFF.  The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the 
core messages in the LA’s draft response to the consultation were: the need for an 
equitable approach for all schools; implementing consistency and alignment only 
where it would add value particularly where there would be significant work involved 
in doing so; and ultimately a decisive timeline that moved the issue forward 
resulting in all schools being funded through the ‘hard’ NFF.  

24.21 He explained that a meeting of the F40 was taking place on 20 September 2021, 
during which the F40’s response to the consultation would be considered and then 
published once finalised.  The LA would be holding a webinar on 22

 
September 

2021 for all Gloucestershire’s schools to consider the LA’s draft response.  It was 
agreed that all Forum members would be sent an invite to the event.
ACTION: Clerk to the Schools Forum.

24.22 The Forum was informed that once finalised Gloucestershire’s response would be 
shared with all schools via the HeadsUp bulletin.  There would be a follow-up DfE 
consultation once responses to the questions had been considered.  

25. HIGH NEEDS 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

7 

25.1 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, informed members of 
the forecast financial performance of the High Needs block in 2021/22.  He 
explained that there was a worsening picture for the High Needs block this year.  
The key variance, £532,000, was within the High Needs unallocated budget line.  
The variance was comprised of a significant adjustment of £282,000 in the 
import/export calculation and a £250,000 adjustment for the mainstream top-up 
budgets, to support additional therapies and bespoke SEN packages.  The cost of 
therapies and bespoke packages was not an additional cost, but should have been 
included in the initial budget planning.

25.2 The Forum was informed that there had been a rise in the number of children with 
an EHCP moving into further education and college placements, that  had resulted 
in a forecast overspend of £172,000. Additional post-16 opportunities had resulted 
in a reduction in the use of independent post-16 providers, saving around £200,000 
on 20 places.  That had helped create a forecast underspend in the Independent 
Special Schools budget of £51,900.

25.3 There had been a rise in primary and secondary mainstream forecasts, £69,000 
and £96,000 respectively. It was directly linked to a rise in excess of the historic 
trends, in the number of new EHCPs. 

25.4 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that as a result of the 
adjustments outlined above, the expected annual overspend in High Needs had 
moved from £3,573,300 to £4,105,300.  However, this was an improvement of over 
£1M on the overspend in 2020/21.

25.5 The Forum received details on the import and export adjustment.  It was explained 
that Gloucestershire was a net exporter.  That meant the number of Gloucestershire 
high needs pupils that other areas took in (exports) was above the number of every 
high needs pupil that Gloucestershire took in from another area (imports). A 
deduction of £1,140,000 was made from Gloucestershire’s 2021/22 High Needs 
funding block, compared to £858,000 in 2020/21. A difference of -£282,000.  Initial 
analysis by the LA had suggested that the increase was linked to the increase in 
the number of children with an EHCP moving into further education and college 
placements.  However, the Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum representative on 
the Forum reported that many Gloucestershire families were experiencing 
difficulties in finding special school provision in the county due to a lack of places 
and places that were suitable, and that it was not solely related to post-16 places.

25.6 The Head of Education Strategy and Development, agreed that he would provide 
Forum members with a further breakdown of the budget, to show the cost of special 
school placements per pupil in the county, and the cost of out of county 
independent special schools placements per pupil.  It was also agreed that 
information on the Home to School Transport costs for children travelling to special 
schools in county, and independent special schools out of county, would be 
provided to the Forum.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

8 

25.7 The Forum noted the 2021/22 High Needs forecast and the variance to budget.

25.8 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the growth trend 
for EHCPs was continuing as the numbers were rising.  The period from January 
2020 to January 2021 saw an increase of 420 EHCPs, compared to the 350 
budgeted for.  On average the cost of an EHCP plan had now risen to £20,000.  
Officers were working through the details and impact of the growth to better 
understand the spike in numbers.  He warned that if the rise was sustained then it 
would impact on the ability to set a balanced budget within the 5-year High Needs 
plan.   The Joint Additional Needs and High Needs Strategies remained focussed 
on enabling earlier intervention through a long term sustainable model to support a 
reduction in the rise of EHCPs.  The 5-year plan was being updated to reflect the 
current trends in EHCP growth and would be presented at the 11 November 
Schools Forum meeting.  

25.9 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that earlier 
intervention was not a panacea; and the Forum acknowledged that there remained 
a need for continued investment in High Needs from central government to deal 
with the substantial growth in the complexity of need coming into the system.  It was 
noted that the financial year 2022/23 was the final year of the 3-year High Needs 
additional funding package which was announced by the government in the Autumn 
2019. It was hoped that the continuation of additional investment in High Needs 
funding would be announced in the government’s October Spending Review.

25.10 The Forum was informed that the new banded funding model was being finalised 
ready for a trial implementation with a small cohort of schools in January 2022.  The 
descriptors that supported the new banding system had received feedback from all 
key stakeholders.  The descriptors, provision maps and proposed funding levels 
would be brought to the next Schools Forum meeting in November for review and 
sign off.  

25.11 The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that the local authority 
was looking to develop the special school capacity to meet the rising levels of need.  
Based on the current trends approximately 100 more special school places per year 
would be needed in the county.  There were a number of challenges involved in 
building new special schools,  the key one being the limited capital funding 
available, and therefore the LA was looking at increasing capacity in the existing 
special schools.  He would be working with the Gloucestershire Association of 
Special School Headteachers, to look at where those extra places could be 
accommodated.

26. CAPITAL 

26.1 Gareth Vine, Universal Commissioning Manager, presented a report on Education 
Capital.  He informed the Forum that the revised annual budget for the 2021/22 
Schools capital programme was £41.591M.  The financial year spend as at the end 
of August 2021 was £12.509M. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

9 

26.2 The Forum received an update on the construction of the SEMH special school in 
Brockworth, Gloucester, and Gloucestershire’s Alternative Provision Transformation 
Project.  

26.3 The Universal Commissioning Manager reported that to meet the additional 
demand for primary places arising from existing housing and new development in 
Bishop’s Cleeve, a new primary school would be built on land to the north of the 
village next to the Old Farmers Arms on Evesham Road.  The school would form 
part of Gloucestershire Learning Alliance, Multi Academy Trust. 

26.4 The Forum was informed that development of the new 900 place High School, 
Leckhampton was progressing at pace with the new provision scheduled to open 
September 2022.   The new school, which was run by the Balcarras Academy 
Trust, opened as planned in September 2021 for pupils in Year 7 only in 
accommodation provided at the Balcarras site.   

26.5 The Universal Commissioning manager explained that impact of the pandemic 
coupled with Brexit had been affecting the supply chains of some key materials, but 
had not caused any significant impact in Gloucestershire as yet.  The situation 
would continue to be monitored on a monthly basis and mitigating plans developed 
where necessary.

26.6 Approval for a new secondary school and a primary school had been approved as 
part of the DfE’s Wave free school applications (Beacon Secondary Academy, as 
part of Cotswold Beacon Academy Trust, and The Wheatridge Primary School, as 
part of The Crypt School Trust).  The new schools would be centrally funded 
through the government’s Free School programme.  Both of the projects would be 
delayed by at least 2 years due to the impact of the pandemic and Brexit.

26.7 The Forum was informed that the DfE had also announced that two secondary 
academies in Gloucestershire - Katharine Lady Berkeley School, in Wotton Under 
Edge, and Thomas Keble School in Stroud, had been approved as part of phase 1 
of the government’s School’s Rebuilding Programme.  

26.7 The Forum noted the current position in respect of the Education capital projects.

27. F40 AND COVID-19 UPDATE 

27.1 The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that on the 6th 
September 2021 the DfE had announced details for the funding of the COVID 
recovery premium.  Officers had now assessed the impact of the funding for 
schools in Gloucestershire.  He explained that mainstream schools would receive 
£145 per eligible pupil and £290 for children in a special unit.  All other schools 
would receive £290 per eligible pupil.  It would be paid in four payments throughout 
the year, and in total would amount to a provisional allocation of £2.5M of Covid-19 
recovery funding for Gloucestershire’s schools.  The funding was expected to be 
used to support evidence based approaches.  He confirmed that the use and 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

10 

impact of the recovery premium must be reported as part of the Pupil Premium 
report and would be a focus of an Ofsted visit.  

27.2 Forum members emphasised the importance of all schools being made aware of 
this funding.  The Head of Education Strategy and Development confirmed that 
information on COVID recovery premium would be included in the HeadsUp 
bulletin. 
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development

27.3 A Primary School Headteacher representative on the Forum made reference to the 
fact that schools in Gloucestershire were missing out on Pupil Premium funding due 
to a change in the way it was being calculated.  It was now calculated on free 
school meals eligibility in October rather than January as it was in previous years.  
She reported that the additional Covid-19 recovery funding being allocated to their 
school would not even cover the loss to their budget from the change to the Pupil 
Premium funding.  The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that 
the LA had completed an analysis on the impact of the change in terms of the loss 
of funding to Gloucestershire’s schools, he would compare this with the additional 
funding being received as part of the Covid-19 recovery funding and raise as an 
issue at the meeting of the F40 on 20 September 2021.
ACTION: Head of Education Strategy and Development

Chair

Meeting concluded at 3.57 pm

Page 10



 
Schools Forum Meeting on 16 September 2021 

 
Action Sheet 

 
TOPIC 
 
 

 
ACTION 

 
RESPONSIBILITY 

 
OUTCOME 
 

Actions from 7 
June 2021 
meeting 

Following the publication of the SEND review and ahead 
of the publication of the High Needs consultation a 
Schools Forum working group session to take place to 
assess the implications of the SEND review and any 
impacts on the local funding models; and consider the 
existing High Needs funding formula and identify the right 
proxy measures that could underpin the funding  
formula.   
 

Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development/Clerk to 
the Schools Forum 

Working group was setup and met on the 20th October 
– notes are included with the papers and next steps 
discussed in the High Needs report. 

School Funding 
2022/23 

(a) Growth Fund – Officers to look into how to increase 
transparency and consultation with schools 
regarding the allocation of funding to meet the need 
for additional places, particularly how an area as a 
whole caters for the need.  Forum members to be 
provided with information on how the process 
operates and how the funding is allocated. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consideration of the need to provide additional places 
is based on planning ahead using the latest forecast 
information.  The Universal Commissioning Team 
receive new pupil forecasts in February each year, 
updating our information to identify action that may be 
required to provide additional places to meet basic 
need in future years.  
 
Where it is identified that there will be insufficient 
places officers will engage with schools in the area 
affected to discuss the findings and explore how 
additional capacity might be provided.  This will 
depend on whether the additional places are for a 
single year intake (a temporary ‘bulge’ class) or 
whether the need is more permanent, in which case a 
statutory process will be required to permanently 
expand the setting.  Discussions would also take 
place as to whether the need could be met through 
utilising existing accommodation or if a capital project 
is required to provide the additional space.  Capital 
funding would need to be evidenced and secured 

P
age 11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(b) Webex meeting invitation to be sent to Forum 
members : Consultation response - Fair Funding for 
All: Completing our reforms to the National Funding 
Formula Webinar on 22 September 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Clerk to the Schools 
Forum 
 

through the Children and Families Capital programme 
using the basic need grant funding the council 
receives from the DfE.  The additional revenue 
funding for the additional places is allocated in 
accordance with the Council’s New School and 
Planned Growth Policy (Growth Fund).   
More recently officers have been attending area 
Headteacher meetings to provide an overview and 
discuss the current and future needs to start a 
dialogue on how we plan for any changes that may be 
required.   
 
New School and Planned Growth Policy is attached. 
 
 
 
Sent via email on 17.09.21. 

High Needs 
 

(a) In recognition of the complexities around the High 
Needs funding system, and the rising levels of need 
coupled with a High Needs budget under immense 
pressure, a workshop to be arranged for Forum 
members to take an in-depth look at High Needs 
Funding.  Representatives from the ESFA and the 
DfE to be invited to attend the session. 
 

(b) Forum members to be provided with a further 
breakdown of the budget, to show the cost of special 
school placements per pupil in the county, and the 
cost of out of county independent special schools 
placements per pupil.   

 
(c) Forum members to be provided with information on 

the Home to School Transport costs for children 
travelling to special schools in the county and 
independent special schools out of county. 

 

Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development/Clerk to 
the Schools Forum 
 
 
 
 
Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 
 
 
 
Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 

Working group was setup and met on the 20th October 
– notes are included with the papers and next steps 
discussed in the High Needs report. 
 
 
 
 
 
Included in the High Needs report. 
 
 
 
 
 
Significant changes take place at the start of the 
Autumn term, so a breakdown of transport costs for 
SEND will be provided at the meeting in January.   

P
age 12



F40 and Covid-
19 Update 

(a) (a) Schools to receive information on the COVID 
recovery funding via the HeadsUp bulletin. 

 
 
(b) Schools in Gloucestershire are missing out on Pupil 

Premium funding due to a change in the way it is 
being calculated.  There is concern that the additional 
Covid-19 recovery funding being allocated to schools 
will not cover the loss to their budgets from the 
change to the Pupil Premium funding.  Analysis on 
the impact of the change in terms of the loss of 
funding to Gloucestershire’s schools, to be compared 
with the additional funding being received as part of 
the Covid-19 recovery funding, and raised as an issue 
at the meeting of the F40 on 20 September 2021. 

 
 

Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 
 
Head of Education 
Strategy and 
Development 
 

Complete – October heads-up 
 
 
 
Lost income from changes to the pupil premium 
census date totalled £1,400,370.  This is £1,213,190 
loss for primary schools and £187,190 for secondary 
schools. 
 
Recovery premium funding for primary and secondary 
schools totals £2,244,092.  This breaks down as 
£931,047 for secondary schools and £1,313,045 for 
primary schools.  The result is that primary schools 
are disproportionately impacted by the change in the 
pupil premium funding which is offsetting the 
additional funding received for recovery.     
 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Criteria for Additional Funding for New Academy/Maintained 

Schools and Planned Growth in Primary and Secondary 

Academy/Maintained Schools. 

Agreed at Schools Forum 18th November 2015 

Growth Criteria 

Growth funding will be provided to mainstream maintained schools and 

academies where: 

1. The County Council agree that a temporary or permanent increase to a school’s 

PAN is required to meet basic need population growth (not simply arising from 

parental preference or a school’s desire to increase capacity). This would 

normally be to accommodate an additional reception class. 

2. The County Council agree that a temporary increase to a school’s PAN is 

required to accommodate in year admissions across a number of year groups 

resulting from basic need expansion increases in an area (not simply arising 

from parental preference or a school’s desire to increase capacity). 

3. The County Council requests schools to admit significant additional pupils as a 

consequence of a school closure. 

4. In-year support to a new school from the growth fund is required in line with 

section 3 of the New School Funding Criteria below.  

The agreed increase will normally be in the form of an additional class or half class.  

Where an additional class is needed in an area but agreement cannot be reached to 

fund one school, the funding may be split between two or more schools. 

Growth Funding Payments 

One off funding will be allocated based on 30 pupils (or 15 if a half class) X the age 

weighted pupil unit (AWPU) X 7/12ths. (note: for an academy a full AY funding is paid subject 

to the LA being able to reclaim this 5/12ths  from the EFA) 

This additional funding will be taken into account when subsequently calculating any 

payments that may be due to a maintained school from the de-delegated in year 

growth fund to ensure no double funding arises.  

If a school or academy feels that the funding mentioned above will significantly 

underfund their additional costs, they will be given an opportunity to bring a request 

for additional funding to the Schools Forum for consideration. Any such request must 

be backed with clear demonstrated evidence of the additional funding need. 

Where growth funding is payable to academies, the County Council will also pay the 

increase for the remaining 5/12ths of the academic year (April to August). The 

Council’s Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) will however be reimbursed for this 

5/12ths element by the Education Funding Agency (EFA.) 

Rules on growth funding payments to a new school are covered under section 3 of 

the New School Funding Criteria below. 

Page 15



New School Funding Criteria 

 

1. Start up costs prior to a school opening 

A one off lump sum of £50,000 will be payable to the school from the growth fund. 

This is intended to be used towards costs such as: 

 Funding salary costs of the designated head teacher, admin and finance 

support prior to opening. 

 Any temporary accommodation costs while awaiting new build. 

 Recruitment and interview related costs. 

 Any other incidental costs. 

It will up to the school how to use these funds. No further one off funding prior to 

opening will be payable and any unspent funds can be retained by the school. 

 

2. Varying the pupil numbers used in the Authorities Proforma Tool (APT) 

submission to the DfE. 

When a new school opens and for a period of 7 years or when a school reaches 

90% of its NOR capacity whichever is the sooner, the LA will apply to the EFA to 

vary the pupil number on roll (NOR) in the APT (the APT NOR is used as the basis 

for schools’ budgets).  

The varied NOR will (subject to EFA approval) be used in the APT instead of the 

previous October census NOR that is used for all other schools. 

Funding for a new school in the first instance will be based upon 120 pupils (a 

minimum four class model).  

Varied pupil numbers will be calculated based on a maximum of 30 pupils per class 

and by keeping Infant and Junior phases as distinct teaching groups. 

E.g. for a new 2FE primary school  

Funding will be based upon 120 pupils (a minimum four class model) in the first 

instance. 

Initial assumption:  

 Reception Class of up to 30 pupils 

       Infant total – 60 pupils 

 KS1 class of up to 30 pupils 

 

 KS2 2 classes of up to 30 pupils  Junior total – 60 pupils 

Triggers for additional funding: 

As soon as the infant numbers (Reception plus KS1) reach 60 pupils, the LA will 

fund another 30 Reception places (3 classes). Then 

Page 16



 on reaching 90 the LA will fund another 30 places (4 classes) 

 on reaching 120 the LA will fund another 30 places (5 classes) 

 on reaching 150 the LA will fund another 30 places, taking them to six 

infant classes. 

AND/OR 

As soon as KS2 total pupil numbers reach 60, the LA will fund another 30 places. 

 on reaching 90 the LA will fund another 30 places 

 on reaching 120 the LA will fund another 30 places 

 on reaching 150 the LA will fund another 30 places 

 on reaching 180 the LA will fund another 30 places 

 on reaching 210 the LA will fund another 30 places, taking them to eight 

KS2 classes. 

Funding will not be clawed back if the actual pupil numbers at year end are lower 

than the estimated varied number used in the APT. 

Other funding factors 

If data is provided by the DfE relating to other funding factors (e.g. prior attainment, 

deprivation) as a percentage of the actual NOR then these percentages will be 

applied to the varied NOR to identify appropriate funding for the other factors. 

If data is not available the other factor percentages of a similar school will be used, 

or in the case of there being no similar school the average percentages for the whole 

sector. 

3. In-year support to new schools from the growth fund. 

The following will apply for a period of 7 years, or when a school reaches 90% of it’s 

NOR capacity, whichever is the sooner. 

3.1 Funding for new class required. 

If at any point during the financial year the LA identifies an additional 

reception class is required above those already used in the varied NOR then 

the school will receive an additional full year’s funding of 30 pupils X the 

AWPU. This will in effect be a correction to the estimated NOR used in the 

APT submission. 

3.2 New class not required but in-year October census NOR higher 

than varied NOR used in APT.  

The school’s in year October census will be compared to the varied NOR 

used in the APT plus any additional NOR added for a new class in year. 

If the October NOR is higher than this, AWPU funding will be provided for the 

increase without applying any thresholds.  This will ensure that if a school 

does not qualify for additional class funding it will as a minimum be funded for 

all its pupils at the mid financial year October census date. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

High Needs Report  

Schools’ Forum 
Date 

11th November 2021 

Type of Decision For information and discussion 

Background 
Documents 

High Needs Strategy 

Authors Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development 

Purpose of Report To provide updates on High Needs forecast for 2021/22 and the current 

growth trends in Education Health and Care Plans.   

To share greater detail on the costs and trends for specialist and 

independent specialist provision. 

To update on the first meeting and future plans for the High Needs working 

group.  

Key 
Recommendations 

Members to note the revised forecast for 2021/22 and the proposed 

adjustment to future forecasting to bring it in line with the current growth 

trends in EHCPs (circa 400 per annum) 

Resource 
Implications 

Increased overspend of £660,000 in the High Needs block. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



1. High Needs – Forecast for 2021/22 

1.1. The table below shows the High Needs forecast, less recoupment, as at the end of 

September 2021.  As discussed at the last School’s Forum meeting in September there has 

been a further £660,000 increase in costs which result in a forecast in-year deficit of just 

over £5m. 

High Needs Block Budget

Forecast 

(Sept 21)

Variance to 

budget

Varian to 

prvs forecast

£000 £000 £000 £000

Alternative provision - places & top ups & services 5,470.8 5,095.9 -374.9 -365.8

Alternative provision - Glos Hospital Education 2,030.7 1,990.9 -39.8 -26.4

EHCP Costs - College and FE 4,698.9 5,698.5 999.6 827.6

EHCP Costs - Early Years 233.5 233.5 0.0 0.0

EHCP Costs - Primary 7,882.3 8,113.8 231.5 162.2

EHCP Costs - Secondary 5,226.0 5,430.5 204.5 176.9

Excluded pupils -100.0 -169.1 -69.1 -32.1

LA Services and staffing 3,870.9 3,974.2 103.3 -94.7

Independent Special Schools 17,262.7 17,275.2 12.5 68.1

Restorative Practice 200.0 199.2 -0.8 -1.3

Special Centres 291.3 301.1 9.8 11.5

Special school provision 20,948.2 20,982.1 33.9 4.9

Support Services 1,286.1 1,180.3 -105.8 -58.6

Virtual School 620.3 620.3 0.0 0.0

High Needs Unallocated -4,093.3 0.0 4,093.3 -12.0

Rounding -0.1 0.1 0.0

65,828.3 70,926.4 5,098.1 660.3  

 *High Needs unallocated refers to the High Needs planned deficit. 

1.2. The most significant movement is in the College and FE budget, where we have seen a 

sharp increase in the number of places. However, analysis shows that we have not yet hit 

the bulge that is generated from the continued increase in mainstream.  The graph below 

shows the current year 7 to 11 data, which clearly shows that we can expect a continued 

increase in the need for post-16 support in future years. 

 

Page 20



1.3. The forecast now includes a 2% increase to top-ups as agreed at the previous School’s 

Forum meeting.  To offset this cost, we have made an adjustment in the forecast 

expenditure on external Alternative Provision, this has been possible due to the reduced 

pressure on the Local Authority run alternative provision service.  In previous years we 

have needed to commission additional support from third sector providers due to the 

significant pressure on the service.    

1.4. At the start of the year we were hoping to manage the budget to a £3.5m in-year 

overspend.  Some immediate adjustments had to be made to address an increase in the 

import/export cost and an underestimated position on the mainstream budgets.  This meant 

a £4m in-year deficit would have been a more realistic starting point.   

1.5. We have subsequently agreed to a 2% increase in top-up rates which cost £523,000 and 

have seen a significant rise in post-16 and FE costs.  All of which means our in-year 

position is likely to come in at a £5m deficit, which is a marginal improvement on the £5.4m 

position in 2020/21. 

1.6. What we have seen in the post-16 and FE budget this year is that small changes in trends 

and average costs in other budget areas, in this case the secondary Y11 cohort, can have a 

significant impact.  To address these issues, we have developed a more detailed activity 

led financial model, that looks back over the last three years to assess trends and forecasts 

a 5 forward plan. This has been developed in line with the DfE Dedicated Schools Grant 

Management Plan, to aid future discussions with the DfE.   We are currently stress testing 

the model and will make the model available at the January Schools Forum meeting. 

1.7. Given the current financial pressures and the rising level of need, it is our ambition that the 

5-year plan works towards a balanced in-year position.  Treatment of the accumulated 

deficit will be a discussion that should be had with the DfE, in light of their wider view on the 

treatment of the national deficit position.   

1.8. The current estimate is that the national High Needs deficit is in excess of £2b.  The 40 

members of the Society of County Treasurers reported a cumulative deficit of £487m in 

2020/21 with a forecast that this will reach £1.3b by the end of 2022/23.  Hampshire are 

currently reporting an overspend of £22.4m this year alone.   

1.9. The point being that it unrealistic to expect these accumulated deficits to be resolved 

through adjustments to funding models, early intervention or reducing services for 

vulnerable children and young people. At some stage the accumulated deficit will need to 

be addressed through discussion with the DfE.  In the meantime, our priority remains to 

have a clear plan in place to balance the in-year position within the next 3 to 5 years. 

Forum members are asked to review the current forecast and associated information and 

bring any questions to the meeting.       

2. Independent and Special School Funding 

2.1. Special school funding is delivered in two parts.  Place funding, which is based on a 

commissioned number of special school places and is paid regardless of whether that place 

is used; and top-up funding which is delivered through the banding system and is allocated 

when a child or young person is placed at the provision. 

Page 21

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1004562/202107_DSG_management_plan_guidance_2021_to_2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1004562/202107_DSG_management_plan_guidance_2021_to_2022.pdf


2.2. The current breakdown of costs is as follows: 

Cost Centre Description Budget 2021 

Special School Top Up  £13,412,116 

Place Funding £6,686,667 

Total  £20,098,783 

 

2.3. Place funding is reduced by recoupment of place funding by the DfE for Academies.  This 

will account for 676 places and as such the recoupment amount is circa £6,760,000.  So 

total place funding for special schools including recoupment is £13.4m 

2.4. The current banding system is funded as follows: 

Band Funding 

Band A £1,939 

Band B £7,273 

Band C £12,121 

Band D £12,928 

Band E £22,625 

 

2.5. The table below shows the trends in the banding averages since 2016. As you can see, 

alongside the rising numbers, there has been a gradual rise in the complexity of need and 

as such increased use of higher banding ranges. 

244 19.81% -2.14% 255 21.94% -2.99% 277 24.93% 0.92% 254 24.01% -1.28% 266 25.29% 2.45% 232 22.83%

439 35.63% -0.51% 420 36.14% -0.22% 404 36.36% -0.97% 395 37.33% -0.21% 395 37.55% -0.64% 388 38.19%

344 27.92% 2.36% 297 25.56% 1.62% 266 23.94% 0.03% 253 23.91% 0.05% 251 23.86% -1.34% 256 25.20%

159 12.91% -0.43% 155 13.34% 0.20% 146 13.14% -0.28% 142 13.42% 0.87% 132 12.55% -0.64% 134 13.19%

46 3.73% 0.72% 35 3.01% 1.39% 18 1.62% 0.30% 14 1.32% 0.56% 8 0.76% 0.17% 6 0.59%

1232 1162 1111 1058 1052 1016

2021 2018 2017 201620192020

 

2.6. In addition to the banding system there are circumstances in which additional funding has 

been agreed to support more complex placements or provide one-off support. The cost of 

these agreements in 2021/22 is forecast to be £700k.  

2.7. Commissioned places in the county for the last two years are shown in the table below.  

You will note an increase of 54 places this year.  This is part of planning to commission 

special schools to capacity, but leaves very little room for further growth of numbers, 

without capital development on existing sites, or new school developments.   

School 
September 2020 
commissioned numbers 

September 2021 
commissioned numbers 

Alderman Knight 198 220 

The Ridge Academy 58 65 

Bettridge 148 148 

The Peak Academy 60 60 

Paternoster 60 60 

The Shrubberies 130 130 

Battledown 40 65 

Belmont 156 156 

Page 22



The Milestone 320 320 

Heart of the Forest 115 115 

The Space 6 6 

Total 1291 1345 

 

2.8. The specialist commissioning team are working on a long-term plan that will model the 

required specialist places in the county over the next 5 years.  This will take account of the 

75 SEMH places already planned for 2022/23 when the new special school is in place, but 

will almost certainly require the commissioning of several new special schools in the coming 

years. 

2.9. You will have seen that the autumn spending review has committed £2.6b to support new 

special school places.  This effectively triples the capital investment in specialist provision 

and is a recognition that significant investment in special schools and alternative provision 

is a priority. 

2.10. Access to this funding will be through the free school programme and will no doubt be 

exceptionally competitive, given the pressure on places nationally.  This does mean that 

even with successful bids, the lead in time for new builds will be 2 to 3 years. 

2.11. The Independent Special School budget is currently forecasting expenditure at £17.25m 

this financial year. The budget is structured in 2 parts: High cost joint funded placements; 

and independent special school placements. 

2.12. There are currently 54 joint funded placements being supported by the high needs budget 

at a total cost of £4.1m. There are 285 children and young people placed in independent 

school at a total cost of just over 13.1m.   

2.13. The following breakdown shows the highest, lowest and average placement costs. 

Highest £ Lowest £ Average £

£122,400 £15,018 £45,909

£149,368 £37,559 £75,915

Cost to Education Summary (Per Annum)

Independent School Placements - 

Joint Funded Placements -  

2.14. The following graphs provide details of the type of need that is supported, the gender 

breakdown and the national curriculum year of placements.  As you will see the SEMH 

provision for boys in the 11-16 age group is the dominant area of need, although we are 

also seeing a rise in need for places for children and young people with Autism. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

2.15. There is a need for placements for the rising number of children with SEMH that is currently 

being seen in the secondary sector and we have put in place measures to support this 

through the commissioning of a new SEMH special school, however we recognise that 

greater support and intervention in the primary and early years sectors could prevent 

escalation of the needs for some children and young people. 

2.16. As such we continue to focus on putting more specialist provision in place to meet the 

current needs, whilst increasing our focus on early intervention. 

 

Page 24



3. Growth trends for EHCPs 

3.1. As reported previously EHCP numbers continue to rise. At the first of October 2021 we 

were supporting 4,692 plans in place.  This is a rise of 360 since January 2021.  In the 

January 2020 to January 2021 period we saw a net increase of 410 plans.  Given the 

current numbers we would expect a similar increase by January 2022. 

3.2. These net increases of over 400 EHCPs a year are above trends in the previous 4 years 

where the net increase varied from 310 to 350. We can see that the trend is continuing as 

requests to assess through the Jun-Sept period are significantly up on last year, as shown 

in the table below. 

2019-2020 Number 

rec’d 

2021-2020 Number 

rec’d 

Increase % increase 

June 56 June 85 29 52% 

July 57 July 88 31 54% 

August 20 August 25 5 25% 

September 36 September 56 20 56% 

 

3.3. Moving forward we are planning to use a net increase of 400 new plans to forecast budget.  

We would be interested in Forum members’ views on this increase of need; whether they 

recognise this on the ground and whether there is a view this will be sustained or is linked 

to the impact of COVID. 

4. High Needs working group 

4.1. The working group met in October to start exploring the High Needs issue in more detail.  

Notes from the meeting and a one-page strategy are included with these papers.  This 

initial meeting enabled us to set the scene and explore get a common understanding of the 

key issues.  

4.2. We would like to continue the use of the working group to explore specific areas of the 

budget and planning in more detail.  There are some areas that we would like to explore in 

more detail with the working group, for example the proposed banded funding model, the 

use of non-statutory funding to support earlier intervention, 5 year planning and the 1 in 40 

model.  However we would be keen to hear from forum members on areas that they would 

like to see prioritised by the working group. 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Notes of the Gloucestershire Schools Forum High Needs Workshop, held on Wednesday 20 
October 2021.  The meeting was held remotely. 
 
Present: 
 
Members: Stephen Dean (primary school headteacher), Rhian Evans (primary school governor), Andrew 
Harris (community representative), Becky Martin (special school governor), Dermot McNiffe (secondary 
school headteacher), Will Morgan (secondary school headteacher), Poppy Scott Plummer (secondary 
school governor), Clare Steel (special school headteacher). 
 
Officers: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development; Neil Egles, Finance Manager, 
Schools, Strategy and Capital; Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner; Chris Hemingway, Finance 
Manager, Lead for Adults; Jo Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser and Clerk to the Schools Forum. 
 
1. Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, gave an overview of the background 

and context of the High Needs budget in Gloucestershire.  He explained that the National Funding 
Formula (NFF) did not provide support for schools with high levels of children with additional needs.  
This had created a funding inequity involving schools which attracted a disproportionate number of 
children with additional needs.   
 

2. The Minimum Per Pupil Funding level (MPPF) in the NFF is locking in the inequities in the system.  
He presented an example of a comparison between two schools both for primary and secondary. 
This set out just how significant the variance could be in regards to the amount schools received per 
pupil under the MPPF uplift element of the NFF. Schools that had a large number of children with 
additional needs could receive much less MPPF uplift per pupil than a school which had much lower 
levels. Schools with a high number of children with additional needs would struggle to balance their 
budget under the ‘hard’ NFF. 

 
3. Members were informed that in terms of countering the funding inequities, the 1 in 40 rule had been 

included as a local element of the NFF, to assist in compensating schools which attracted a 
disproportionate number of children with additional needs who required an EHCP.  The cost of 
including the 1 in 40 rule in the funding formula was £1.7M in 2021/22.  For 2022/23 the surplus in 
the Schools Block of approx. £0.6M would be transferred to the High Needs block to support the 1 
in 40 rule.  However, this may not be sustainable in longer term, particularly if the DfE were to 
undertake a review of our High Needs budget and forecast.  Despite this the LA had continued to 
include the 1 in 40 rule in an aim to support more children within mainstream schools.  The removal 
of the 1 in 40 rule would mean more mainstream schools struggling to meet need and as a result 
would see more high cost placements into special and independent special schools. 

 
4. The F40 Group had been campaigning for some time now for schools to receive a fairer deal - a 

minimum per pupil funding amount, plus funding for children with additional needs, as part of the 
NFF. 

 
5. Last year the financial forecasts for the High Needs budget had been broadly in-line with the 

planned year end deficit budget. This had demonstrated a greater understanding of the level of 
need coming into the system and the growth trends, enabling more control of the budget and 
accurate forecasting.  However, in the current financial year, the trends were moving away from the 
previous trajectory, with a significant increase seen in the number of new requests for Education 
Health and Care Plans (EHCP).  Comprehensive modelling work was being undertaken to look at 
the resulting impact if the number of new requests for EHCPs were to decrease or continued to 
increase at the current rate. 

 
6. A member commented that the current system meant headteachers were in effect being 

encouraged to request an EHCP assessment for a pupil in order to access the funding and support.  
The statutory process needed to be unlocked, so that additional funding and support could be 
accessed more efficiently for eligible children and young people outside of an EHCP. 

 
7. Members were informed that the pressure on the High Needs budget was predominantly created by 

the rising level of need - this was a national issue.  The ISOS partnership research into SEND 
funding pressures was a good basis from which to understand the increases. The reasons for the 

Page 27

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5ce55a5ad4c5c500016855ee/t/5d1cdad6b27e2700017ea7c9/1575395025501/LGA+High+Needs+Tipping+Point
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5ce55a5ad4c5c500016855ee/t/5d1cdad6b27e2700017ea7c9/1575395025501/LGA+High+Needs+Tipping+Point


increases included population growth, advances in medicine which meant that children born 
prematurely or with disabilities survived and lived longer than before but often had more complex 
needs, and an increase in the number of children with social emotional mental health needs. 

 
8. The Head of Education Strategy and Development presented a bar chart which showed the 2017-

18 to 2020-21 estimated year end balance of the High Needs block across a number of local 
authorities. Gloucestershire’s High Needs deficit as a proportion of the budget overall was not as 
significant as many of the other local authorities - there were some local authorities whose deficit is 
a significant proportion of their overall High Needs budget.  However, on the other hand, a small 
number of local authorities were managing to balance their High Needs budget.  The LA wanted to 
avoid making reactionary local decisions that would negatively affect the quality of provision for 
children with additional needs, when this was clearly a national crisis. The LA also wanted to avoid 
creating perverse incentives such as increasing the 1 in 40 rule, when this model supported a 
culture in which some schools were seen by parents as more inclusive, and to avoid cutting support 
which would result in an adverse impact in another area of the budget. 

 
9. The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the inequity of High Needs 

funding was a concern. He presented an example of a comparison between Gloucestershire and 
Buckinghamshire, despite both local authorities having a similar pupil and school population, there 
was a significant disparity between how much High Needs funding each local authority received - 
Buckinghamshire received a total of £15M more High Needs block funding than Gloucestershire.   

 
10. A total of 50% of High Needs block funding was based on historic spend at a moment in time, the 

High Needs formula had then locked in the inequity in how local authorities were funded.  This 
meant that the local authorities that were developing their infrastructure for High Needs at the time 
the formula was developed were usually receiving more per pupil funding than other local 
authorities.   Buckinghamshire had a similar pupil and school population to Gloucestershire, but 
received significantly more per pupil funding due to that funding inequity. Therefore, whilst local 
authorities were doing what they could locally to rebalance their High Needs budget, the issue of 
how the funding was apportioned through the High Needs funding formula to local authorities 
needed to be addressed by central government, particularly the heavy dependence on historic 
funding. The F40 group is undertaking a detailed analysis of High Needs funding to inform the 
debate with central government around how High Needs funding should move forward nationally.  

 
11. A member suggested that it would be useful to compare ‘like for like’, in particular the High Needs 

budget positions of local authority areas that had similar significant levels of deprivation.  The Head 
of Education Strategy and Development explained that the F40 research group was taking a look at 
the High Needs budget positions of local authorities nationally.  A key element of this work was an 
in-depth look at the local authorities that were managing to balance their High Needs budget, to 
understand if they were operating in a way in which other local authorities could learn from. 

 
12. Members were informed that the majority of the High Needs budget was made up of core elements 

that were needs led.  The key element which represented approximately 72% of the High Needs 
budget was the costs associated with EHCPs.  The growth trend for EHCPs was continuing as 
numbers were rising in both the primary and secondary sector.  There were a small number of 
extremely high cost independent special school placements jointly funding by the Health and Social 
Care budget.  These high cost placements can cost in excess of £300,000 a placement, with 
education contributing to around 30% of these costs.  

 
13. Given that the High Needs budget was predominately needs led, with the key pressure being the 

costs associated with the rising number of EHCPs in the system, this left only a small margin in 
which any savings could be made, and it was therefore difficult to make any real immediate savings.  
The Joint Additional Needs and High Needs Strategies remained focussed on enabling earlier 
intervention through a long term sustainable model to support a reduction in the level and 
complexity of need and thus reduce the rise of EHCPs; however, this required the long-term 
commitment of the school system and multi-agency partners, and it would be some time before 
there was any material impact on the budget.  

 
14. The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that the level of need was rising to 

such an extent that the LA now recognised that more special school places were needed throughout 

Page 28



the county.  All special schools in the county were commissioned to full capacity.  A new Social 
Emotional Mental Health school was being built in Brockworth, and work was being undertaken to 
determine where extra places should be allocated within the existing special school provision. 

 
15. Members were informed that the initial indications from the modelling work being undertaken 

showed there was potential for an in-year High Needs surplus by 2024/25; however, there was likely 
to be a £18m deficit by that time.  This was also based on the premise that central government 
would continue to invest in High Needs.  If the government withdrew the extra funding as part of its 
spending review then there would be an extra £5/6M per year deficit to contend with. 

 
16. A member strongly emphasised that the operational aspects involved with children being allocated a 

special school required improvement.  Special school headteachers were receiving requests for 
places direct from parents, without the needs of the children having been assessed by the LA first 
as having met the criteria for a special school place.  Consequently, it was possible that some 
children were being allocated a special school, when they could be effectively accommodated within 
the mainstream sector.  The Head of Education and Strategy acknowledged that at present 
casework was challenging due to the significant pressures resulting from the rise in the number of 
new EHCP requests.  Work was being undertaken to resolve this by implementing a digital platform 
to operate the EHCP process through an online portal, making it a much more efficient and 
collaborative system.  This would enable caseworkers to have increased focus on the child and their 
needs rather than all of the processes involved with administering an EHCP.   

 
17. A member suggested that when looking at resolving the issues, the different levels of need should 

be considered separately - for example those children with the most profound additional needs 
would not benefit from earlier invention - more funding was needed for those children with increased 
funding allocations from health and social care.   Increased levels of funding were also needed for 
the pupils on the mid-range bands. 

 
18. The Head of Education Strategy and Development reported that the new banded funding model 

would be ready for a trial implementation with a small cohort of schools in January 2022.  The LA 
was working with a number of schools to develop provision maps that would sit alongside each 
descriptor. The provision maps would then be costed, so that the funding levels could be assessed 
for each band. 

 
19. A member reported that the level of training staff received and their experience in supporting 

children with special needs, varied considerably in mainstream primary schools – in some cases 
staff had received little to no training.  Some of the children the staff would be supporting would 
have profound special needs, to the extent that they would be eligible for a place in a special 
school.  There were concerns that staff would not be able to make any real intervention for those 
children in the mainstream setting without having received relevant specialist training. 

 
20. The point was made that in many cases parents were requesting 1 to 1 teaching assistant support 

for their child, through the EHCP process, however in some cases this was not the most effective 
way of meeting a child’s needs.  It was recognised that the move towards earlier intervention would 
need to encompass work around changing mindsets and raising confidence amongst parents/carers 
that effective support could be accessed outside of the statutory EHCP process, and at the point of 
need. 

 
21. The Head of Education and Strategy explained that work was being undertaken to look at the 

provision of whole school level support including through TALC (multi-agency forum to which 
schools can refer children and young people for multi-agency support), and Local Inclusion Clusters 
(a multi-agency model, building off the TALC model, but working at a school and system level, 
rather than child level intervention). The continued professional development of staff was also a key 
focus, including training on Trauma Informed Restorative Practice. 

 
22. A member commented that special schools did want to work more collaboratively with the 

mainstream; however, with staffing resource so tight this was not currently practical.  Consideration 
should be given to investment in this area to facilitate the development of teams of staff to work with 
other schools. 

 

Page 29



23. A member suggested that in terms of outreach work, schools needed to be made aware of exactly 
what support was available and there should be an agreed understanding of at which point a school 
could request the support. The Head of Education Strategy and Development acknowledged that 
the LA was aiming to get to that position so that schools were informed about what services were 
available at a child level and a whole school level; however, this was a substantial piece of work and 
not straight forward. 

 
Action points: 

1. It was agreed that the Schools Forum would be provided with a breakdown of the data on the High 
Needs budget to detail the number of pupils using the various types of special educational needs 
provision in Gloucestershire. 

2. To continue the Schools Forum Working Group on the High Needs budget to look at key areas of 
the budget and development in more depth.  

 
Ends. 

Page 30



Gloucestershire Schools Forum – High Needs Budget Working Group 

One Page Strategy 

Broad topic area High Needs Funding and Strategy 

Ambitions for the group 

 

 

 

 

 

For members of the schools forum working group to play an 

active role in informing, guiding and implementing the strategic 

aims identified in the high needs strategy: 

 an inclusive education system characterised by effective 

early intervention and supported by a skilled workforce able 

to access specialist support 

 high quality specialist provision available locally for those that 

need it 

 a sustainable budget 

How do we perform at the 

moment? 

 

 

 

 

 High rates of permanent exclusion (pre-covid19) 

 High rate of elected home education. 

 Significant use of independent specialist provision and 

alternative provision. 

 Significant overspend on high needs budget in 2021/22 and 

planned overspend in 2022/23. 

Background information  High Needs Cabinet report  

 ISOS Report  

 Joint Additional Needs Programme 

How will it operate The working group sessions will be interactive, facilitated 

discussions exploring high needs, school funding and early 

years issues and plans.  The group will feedback to the full 

forum on its work.  Sessions will be planned based on need, 

rather than a regular timetable.  

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Action sheet 16 September 2021
	New School and Planned Growth Policy

	7 High Needs
	Notes of the Schools Forum High Needs Workshop- 20 October 2021
	Schools Forum Working Group - Strategy


